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NARRATIVE DESCRIPTION:

This three story double storefront building from 1892 is located on the north side of the Fairfield
Square, immediately east of the alley. Fairfield is the county seat of Jefferson County which is the third
county west of the Mississippi River and the second county north of the Missouri state line.
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The center of the Fairfield Square is filled by Central Park, not the Jefferson County Courthouse

The green space provided by the park has been a valued part of Fairfield’s business district since the
town was founded in 1839. The courthouse is located one block north of the Square.
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2011 Aerial map of Fairfield Square
Bottom arrow indicates 51 East Broadway on north side of Square
Top arrow indicates Jefferson County Courthouse

Originally each side of the Square was divided in half by a sixteen and a half foot alley. Within
the past fifty years a building was constructed in the alley on the west side of the Square, but the other
alleys remain. This is important as originally iron staircases provided access to the upper stories of the
buildings located on the alleys as well as those located on street corners.
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Exterior:

The building at 51 East Broadway dominates the north side of the Square. It is a three story
brick building, with oriel windows and a round corner tower topped by a conical roof. It exhibits
characteristics of both the Italianate and Queen Anne styles. Rectangular in shape, measuring thirty-
three feet by one hundred feet, with a thirty-three by thirty-two foot two story addition at the rear, it is
located on the alley so it has an exposed side elevation. The fagade has been painted white with blue
and yellow trim, while the side elevation of the main block has been painted gray. The two story brick
addition at the rear has not been painted.

The facade is asymmetrical with the conical tower located on the left (alley) side. It is balanced
on the right side by the two story oriel windows. At street level there have been alterations. At present
the entrance to the main floor store is located on the alley side of the building. The front of the building
consists of two display windows on each side of a broad center window with wood panel below. At each
corner of the storefront is a paneled pilaster. A single post in the center is also paneled. The panels are
blue with narrow yellow trim. An earlier (not original) recessed entrance area is indicated by remnants
of tile mosaic flooring in the center. Above the display windows are five Queen Anne style transom
windows, the center one containing blue and white wood panels instead of glass. The Queen Anne
windows replaced a prism glass transom sometime after 1910. The street level fagade is capped by a
broad white cornice board with yellow dentils.

At the second floor level, both the corner windows and the oriel windows extend down into the
street level cornice and have dentils along their base. Individual windows on both upper floors are tall
ar’i,d slender with wood double hung sash and a transom above. It appears that the original wood
fr’éming is in place, but aluminum storm windows have been added. The round corner has three
windows on each floor, there is a pair of windows in the middle, and the oriels contain three windows.
Between the second and third floors on the both the round tower and the oriels are three rectangular
horizontal panels. The third floor is identical to the second except that a series of square foliated panels
with rosettes are found on the cornice above the tower and oriel, with a series of circles above. The
panels have been highlighted in several different colors and the circles are yellow. These circles have
now been repeated on the panels between the second and third floors, but were not on the panels
originally. The entire storefront is capped by a bracketed pressed metal cornice that extends around the
side of the building about three feet, and a metal shingled roof with finial on the tower. A row of saw-
tooth patterned soldier brick is located just below the metal cornice. The blue trim has been used to
create three belt courses across the facade, at the sill level of both the second and third floor windows
and across the top of the those on the third floor. Because the building is now painted white, it is
difficult to see the original limestone belt courses that extended across the fagade. There are four
narrow courses, at the sill level and at the base of the transoms on both floors, plus a wide stone course
at each level that served as the lintels.
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As noted above, the west elevation (on the alley) of the main block has been painted gray. It
features seven openings on the main floor, from front to back: door, half window, door, four half
windows, arid door. On the second floor, from front to back: three windows, door, five windows. This
door was originally reached by an exterior iron staircase that has been removed within the past few
decades. The third floor has a set of eight windows. All of the windows on this side of the building have
double hung sash and segmental arches with stone or cast concrete sills. Only the third floor is exposed
on the east elevation, and there are no windows on that side.

The ¢.1920 addition to the rear of the building fills the space on the lot left when the original
building was constructed in 1892. It is just two stories in height and rests on a concrete foundation. The
brick is laid in a modified Flemish bond with five courses of headers, then a Flemish bond course, then
five rows of headers, etc. All windows have cast concrete sills, with the first floor half windows having a
flat top, and the three over three metal sash is filled with wire mesh glass. The second floor windows
are double hung with segmental arches and regular glass. On the alley side, there is an entrance door
with a small window next to it. It has not been determined if this is original. All four doors on the alley
side have been given modern “classical” frames. The rear wall of the addition (north elevation) has four
half windows with flat tops and three over three metal sash with wire mesh glass on the first floor, and
an opening that may have been a coal chute. The second floor has three double hung windows with
segmental arches and a door that is reached by an iron staircase.

Interior:

The basement of both sections of the building has not been fully documented, but it appears to
have a mix of iron and concrete columns, and the foundation/footings appear to be a mix of concrete
and limestone. Two sets of stirs lead down into this area from the main floor, and a third set of steps
leads to the opening in the rear wall.

51 Esst Broadway, Basemeni Foor Plan
R T U 4

North &— Arthur Yuenger, Architect  Aprfl 10, 2013

Basement Floor Plan
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The main floor of the store area is open across the front, with a room in the northwest corner of
the store area, and stairs to the basement along the east wall. Originally this building had two
storefronts for two different businesses with two different entrances: a narrow one on the east
occupying about one-third of the space, and back to the stairway; and, a wider (approximately two-
thirds of the space) storefront on the west. The current commercial area extends across the entire
facade and is entered through a new door cut into the alley wall near the front of the building. A little
farther north on the alley side a door leads into a foyer with wooden staircase to the second floor. This
is not original. The remainder of the first floor is divided into several spaces, much of it used for storage.
A row of iron columns runs through the center of the building. The rear section of the building cannot
be accessed from the main block on the first floor. The original walls are all plaster, while the new walls
are sheet rock. A dropped ceiling is found throughout the main floor, but the original pressed metal
ceiling is intact above. Most of the windows on this level retain original woodwork.
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First Floor Plan

The second and third floors retain more original features than the main floor. As noted earlier,
originally the upper levels were reached by an exterior iron staircase (non-extant) with an entrance door
on the alley elevation. A new interior staircase has been built just inside a door opening on to the alley.
An original interior stairway along the east wall on the second floor provides access to the third floor.
Floors in many rooms have been covered with carpet. The original wooden double-hung windows with
original molding are intact.



NPS Form 10-900-a
OMB Approval No. 1024-0018

United States Department of the Interior
National Park Service

National Register of Historic Places

Continuation Sheet Gobble & Heer/Spurgeons Building

Jefferson County, 1A
Section number 7 Page 6

51 East Broadway, Second Floor Plan
- 0 5 10 15 20

North é— Arthur Yuenger, Architect April 10, 2013

Second Floor Plan

There are five separate units on the second floor, ranging from the large five room unit in the
front of the building to a very small single room at the rear. These have been used for various purposes
over the years, both as residences and offices. The original woodwork is found throughout this floor,
but it has been painted. Original walls are plaster, while new construction is sheet rock. Dropped
ceilings have been installed, but the original pressed metal remains in place above. Floors have been
covered everywhere.
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51 East Broadway, Third Floor Plan
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Third Floor Plan
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The third floor originally had one large room in the front, with a series of smaller rooms in the
middle and rear of the building. The large room was used as a lodge hall by various organizations over
the years. While the large front area has now been divided with smaller rooms to the back, the very
front continues as one large open space, providing a view of the Square from the corner tower and oriel
windows. The ceiling has been dropped (original pressed metal remains above), but the original
woodwork remains unpainted, and a chair rail remains in place. The smaller rooms in the back (ante-
room, dressing room, etc.) retain original wood trim, complete with transoms above hallway doors, but
the wood has been painted. The original floor plan remains, and wood floors are found in several of the
rooms.

Integrity:

The alterations to this building were made by previous owners over the years, and have not had
a seriously negative impact. The integrity of 51 East Broadway has been maintained to a high degree,
meeting all seven aspects of integrity as defined by the National Park Service.

Location. This building is located on the north side of the Fairfield Square, on its original lot.

Design. The original design of this building is clearly visible and would be readily recognized by
the original owner and the shopkeepers who had businesses in the building. It is clearly a commercial
design with sidewalk level display windows, and smaller upper story fenestration. It has characteristics
of both the Italianate and Queen Anne styles. The significant original architectural elements remain:
bracketed pressed metal cornice, oriel windows, and rounded corner tower.

Setting. The setting of this building remains the same, the business district around the Square.

Materials. The original materials are easily visible, even with the paint that has been applied to
the exterior brick. Although it is more difficult now to see the limestone details on the fagade, these are
visible under the paint. On the interior, much of the decorative wood trim is extant, as are the floors.

Workmanship. The existence of this building in its present condition speaks to the quality of the
original workmanship. Decorative details on both the interior and exterior remain in place.

Feeling. This building is clearly a commercial building, with no doubt as to its use.

Association. This building falls within the period of greatest development around the Fairfield
Square and is in harmony with the other commercial buildings that make up a potential historic district.

The owners are considering a rehabilitation of this building in the near future and recognize that
it has both architectural and historical significance in the community.
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE:

The Gobble & Heer/Spurgeons Building (1892) is locally significant under Criterion A as it
illustrates the commercial development around the Fairfield Square and as the home of two long-time
Fairfield businesses. It has local Criterion C significance as a fine example of the Queen Anne style used
for a commercial building. The period of significance is 1892 (date of construction) to 1965 (50 year
requirement).

Criterion A:

Fairfield is the seat of Jefferson County, lowa. The Fairfield Square historically has been the
center of the Fairfield business district. The buildings surround Central Park which was part of the
original 1839 plat of the city. Central Park has never been the site of the Jefferson County Courthouse,
which is located one block north of the Square in Block 3. Broadway runs across the north side of the
Square, with Court Street on the east, and Main Street on the west. Burlington Street which runs along
the south side of Central Park has always been the main east/west thoroughfare through town,
beginning as a territorial road and ultimately becoming US Highway 34. Although Highway 34 is now
routed south of the community, Burlington continues to serve as the route of Business US 34.
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The first lots were sold on May 15, 1839, with those around the Square selling for the highest
prices, and those on the north side were the most expensive of all. While lots on the other three sides
sold for $100 to $169, the four on the north side brought prices of $190.75 to $205. Lot 7, Block 8, the
site of the Gobble & Heer/Spurgeons Building, sold for $203. The first courthouse (of frame
construction) was built at the south end of the west side of the Square (corner of Main and Burlington)
in 1839, and commercial development began immediately. As the county seat, Fairfield became the
marketplace for the people of Jefferson County. Although smaller communities sprang up throughout
the county, offering the necessary services to neighboring farmers, only the county seat was large
enough to provide a choice in general stores, or hardware stores, meat markets, etc. As people from
around the county came to Fairfield for business at the courthouse (filing a real estate deed, recording a
family birth or death, paying taxes, serving on a jury), they often brought the family with them for a day
of shopping, eating in local restaurants, perhaps taking in a play at the opera house, and maybe staying
overnight in a Fairfield hotel. As the county seat, Fairfield was bound to grow and prosper. The arrival
of the railroad in 1858 was another major factor in Fairfield’s growth and economy.

The earliest frame buildings on the Square were replaced by substantial brick buildings in the
1860s and 70s. Most were single storefronts, but there were larger, double and triple front buildings as
well. The most popular style of the time was Italianate, with round arched windows and wooden
brackets. The arrival of the railroad in September 1858 made pressed metal cornices and cast
hoodmolds viable options for new commercial buildings. In 1865 James T. Hair described the town of
Fairfield as having a population of 2,200, with a fine brick courthouse and jail {replacing the 1839
building), seven churches, a public hall, a number of small industries including a saw mill, grist mill, plow
factory and foundry, and “nearly all branches of business.” (Hair, p 232) He also made noted that both
the Odd Fellows (1846) and Masons (1847) had established lodges in Fairfield.

The one public hall that Hair mentioned would have been Wells Hall on the east side of the
square built for William R. Wells in 1858. It was not until after the Civil War that another meeting hall
was built. The Jordan Block (Jordan Hall), on the west side of the Square was built for the Jordan
brothers in 1868. Not only were these halls used for meetings by the fraternal lodges, but they were
also used for all types of public meetings as there wasn’t enough space anyplace else in town. The
combination of being a county seat town and having a railroad caused enough development that the
town grew substantially between its platting in 1839 and 1875, the nation’s centennial year. By 1875
there had been at least eight major additions to the town, providing expansion room for residential and
industrial development, but the business district remained around the Square.
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The Jordan Block (1868)
An excellent example of early Italianate design
(Courtesy of Carnegie Museum Collection)
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Sanborn Insurance maps illustrate the development around the Square. The earliest Sanborn
Insurance map dates from 1886 and it shows that most of the buildings around the Square were two
and three story brick structures, but a few frame remained, two of which were on Lot 7, Block 8, the
future site of the Gobble& Heer/Spurgeons Buildings at 51 East Broadway. There was one narrow
empty lot on the west side of the square, and a large empty area in the south half of the east side where
a fire had demolished several buildings in 1882. The south side of the Square was full of brick
commercial buildings. The Masonic Lodge was located in Wells Hall, and the Odd Fellows were in the
Jordan Block. A few commercial buildings were identified by name on the map: the Crawford Block at
61 South Court, the Wilson Block in the 100 block of South Court, and the Slagle-Acheson-Workman
buildings that formed the Centennial Block on West Broadway. By 1892, the west side of the Square is a
solid wall of brick buildings, there was still one empty lot on the east side, and Lot 7, Block 8 was empty.
The 1899 Sanborn map shows the new 1892 Jefferson County Courthouse (NRHP) and shows all four
sides of the Square filled with substantial brick buildings. These buildings housed all of the necessary
businesses ranging from dry goods to groceries to drug stores, and hardware. As true in many
communities, often the businesses were not owned by the building owner, and as renters, these
businesses moved around to different buildings on the Square every few years.

When Ed Hunt and E.A. Howard built the building at 51 East Broadway in 1892, they were not
the occupants. The building appears to have been immediately rented to Harry Booker for his clothing
business, and the Bevering Cigar Store. Unlike most buildings with more than one storefront, 51 was
not divided down the middie with an individual storefront on each side. Historic photographs show that
the business on the east (Bevering Cigar) had a narrow shop front, while the clothing store had about
two/thirds of the front.

51 East Broadway, historic postcard, ¢.1910
(Courtesy of Carnegie Museum Collection)
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In 1899 two young men, Lee T. Gobble and Charles H. Heer, purchased the clothing store from
the Harry Booker Estate. (Fairfield Daily Ledger, Oct 2, 1939, p 62) The firm of Gobble & Heer remained
in that location for over thirty years before moving to the west side of the Square {(where Gobble’s
remained in business for over fifty years). The Bevering Cigar Store remained in the building until the
1930s as well. These two businesses proved to be the exception to the rule of businesses moving from
building to building on a regular basis. When Gobble & Heer and Bevering moved, the entire first floor
was became Spurgeons. The company had opened a store on the west side of the Square some years
earlier and wanted to expand. Spurgeons remained at 51 East Broadway through the 1960s.

In 1929 early settler William L Long told the Fairfield Daily Ledger how the Square developed
over the years. He said that the building occupied by the Gobble & Heer Clothing Store and the Bevering
Cigar Store (51 East Broadway) “was built by Ed Hunt and E.A. Howard in 1892.” Long didn’t explain
whether Hunt and Howard were the actual builders, or developers, or owners. It is interesting to note
that Long’s information is the only place where Hunt and Howard are connected to this building.

The two upper stories of 51 East Broadway housed a mix: offices, apartments, and, a lodge hall
on the third floor. As noted earlier, fraternal organizations played a major role in the social life of
nineteenth century Fairfield, and with them came the need for large meeting halls. Wells Hall and
Jordan Hall filled this need for some years. In 1875 an opera house was built on the south side of the
Square. It was heavily damaged by fire in 1890, and the Odd Fellows (IOOF) purchased the building,
rehabilitating it and turning the old second floor opera house into their lodge hall. The Odd Fellows and
Rebekahs met in the space well into the last half of the twentieth century. Wells Hall had been
remodeled into a two story building in the early twentieth century, creating a need for more meeting
space. Several buildings around theSquare in addition to the IOOF and Jordan Hall were used, but one
of'the few that had dedicated space for lodge meetings was the building at 51 East Broadway. In almost
all cases, the buildings with lodge halls were located on a street or alley corner, and the halls were
reached by the exterior iron staircases, as was the case here. City directories indicate that the third
floor of 51 East Broadway was the home of the Knights of Pythias and the Pythian Sisters. (The writer
collaborates this as she attended meetings of the Pythian Sisters in this building with her grandmother
in the 1940s.)

Criterion C:

The buildings facing the Fairfield Square show a diversity of style, materials and dates of
construction. These are all of brick construction and share a common shape, rectangular with a flat roof
sloping to the rear. The buildings are primarily two story single storefront designs, with several double
and triple storefronts. The earliest, from the late 1860s-1870s, are Italianate in style with round arched
windows and bracketed wooden cornices. There are good examples of later Italianate design with cast
hoodmolds, highly decorative pressed metal cornices, and, in some cases unusual window shapes. No
architect has been identified for any of the buildings around the Square.
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Top Right: South side of Square, 1876 three
early Italianate buildings with round arched
windows, two have bracketed wood
cornices.

(All photographs courtesy of the Carnegie
Museum Collection.)

Center Left: North side of Square,
1876, note hoodmolds and metal
cornices on building in center.

Bottom Right: North side of Square,
west end. Note elaborate window
and cornice treatments.
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Around 1890 the rhythmic pattern of the hoodmolds and pressed metal cornices was broken by
the construction of three buildings on the Square with distinctive Queen Anne style towers: The bank
on the south end of the west side (left), 60 South Main (non-extant); Shriner & Johnson Drug store at
the north end of the west side, 60 North Main {center); and, 51 East Broadway (right).

60 South Main

60 North Main

(All photographs courtesy of
Carnegie Museum Collection)

51 East Broadway
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Each of these towers is a different shape with a different roof type. The earliest appears to have
been 60 South Main (non-extant). The exterior of this building was totally remodeled in the early
twentieth century and there are few photographs. The tower is round and appears “short and squat”
due to the fact that it is only a two story building. The roof is almost dome-like and has a near eastern
feeling. Although it is on a two story building, the Shriner & Johnson tower at 60 North Main, appears to
be much more slender due to the fact that it is polygonal and has a tall slender conical roof with finial.
Both of these towers were located on street corners. The tower of 51 East Broadway is round and taller
as it is a three story building, so it appears to be more slender than the others. The conical roof and
finial are not as elongated as that on Shriner & Johnson. It is located on the alley.

51 East Broadway
(Courtesy of Carnegie Museum Collection)

51 East Broadway is both taller and broader than the other two buildings, providing a larger
surface for decorative detailing. The building not only sports the round corner tower but it is balanced
on the east by a two story set of oriel windows. Both these windows and the tower provide space for
embellishments such as dentils and foliated panels. Limestone belt courses provided not only a
horizontal emphasis, but a nice contrast to the deep red brick fagade. A wide pressed metal Italianate
style cornice completes the fagade. Note that the historic photograph shows a prism glass transom.
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Two things set the Gobble-Heer/Spurgeons Building apart: Its relationship to the other buildings
on the north side of the Square; and, and, its location on the Square. The historic photographs below
show the north side of the Square before this building was constructed, and after. It creates a strong
vertical element in the middle of the block.

Top: 1876 photograph to NE
Bottom: C.1910 photograph to NE
(Both courtesy of Carnegie Museum Collection)
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The second thing, the building’s location an the square is shown in these two photographs. It is
one block due south of the Jefferson County Courthouse, and the tower of each building is reflective of
the other. From almost anywhere around the Square both towers are seen. The photographs below
show the relationship of the two when viewed from the southeast. The arrows indicate the courthouse

tower.

Both historic photographs appear to have been taken ¢.1915
(Both courtesy of Carnegie Museum Collection)
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Conclusion:

The Gobble & Heer/Spurgeons Building at 51 East Broadway (1892) is a landmark on the
Fairfield Square. Although it follows the pattern of other buildings around the Square in terms of
placement on the lot, materials, scale and proportion, it differs from the majority of buildings with its
Queen Anne tower and oriel windows. These design elements bring a different feeling to the Square.
Despite the painted brick on the fagade, the building retains a high level of architectural integrity,
including many interior details. It is interesting that this building has never had a historic name
attributed to it, and is best known for its occupants: Gobble & Heer Clothing from 1899-1930s, and
Spurgeons from the mid-1930s through the mid-1960s.

This building is locally significant under Criterion A as it illustrates the commercial development
around the Fairfield Square and as the home of two long-time businesses: Gobble & Heer, and
Spurgeons. It has local Criterion C significance as a rare example of commercial Queen Anne design in a
relatively small lowa county seat community, and for its architectural integrity. The period of
significance is 1892 (date of construction) to 1965 (the 50 year requirement). The current owner is
aware of the building’s significance and is developing plans for rehabilitation.

This ¢.1910 historic photograph illustrates the relation of 51 East Broadway and the
Jefferson County Courthouse when viewed from the south through Central Park.
{Courtesy of Carnegie Museum Collection)
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GEOGRAPHIC DATA:
Verbal Boundary Description:

Original Plat, Block 8, W 33’ Lot 7

Boundary Justification:

This is the parcel of land on which this building was originally constructed in 1892
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The photographs submitted with this nomination were taken by Molly Myers Naumann
between August 2014 and February 2015, using digital cameras capturing the images at 14 to 24 mp.
The photos are printed on HP Premium Plus paper using HP Vivera inks.

0001 Fagade looking due N toward Jefferson County Courthouse Note the early Italianate
d at 51 W Broadwa across the al

0002 and east half of block looking NE

0003 look NW

0004 Detail: U  r stories of toN

0005 Detail: Street level fa deto NE

0006 Side (west) elevation alo al to NNE

0007 Rear north elevation and side of ¢.1920 addition to SE

0008 Side elevation lookin S from rear of buildi

0009 Interior: Main floor store are looking S toward front of build

0010 Interior: Pressed metal ceili in store area

0011 Interior: Second floor, exterior door on side elevation that would have linked to iron
staircase on all

0012 Interior: Second floor door and wood trim

0013 Interior: Second floor windows in corner tower to SW

0014 Interior: Second floor oriel windows to SE

0015 Interior: Sta from second floor to third floor lo hall

0016 Interior: Third floor room, tower windows looki SW

0017 Interior: Third floorlod room, oriel windowsto S

0018 View from third floor of Central Park lookin S
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